IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

STATE OF IOWA,

Plaintiff,

v.

ROBERT CLARK GEDDES,

Defendant-Appellant.

S.CT. NO. 22-1009

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR BOONE COUNTY
HONORABLE STEPHEN A. OWENS

APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND ARGUMENT

MARTHA J. LUCEY
State Appellate Defender

ASHLEY STEWART
Assistant Appellate Defender
astewart@spd.state.ia.us
appellatedefender@spd.state.ia.us

STATE APPELLATE DEFENDER'S OFFICE
Fourth Floor Lucas Building
Des Moines, Iowa 50319
(515) 281-8841 / (515) 281-7281 FAX
ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

FINAL

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- I. Whether under Iowa Code sections 716.7(2)(a)(1), 716.8(3), and 729A.2(4), the State presented insufficient evidence to establish that Geddes: (1) had the required intent to commit a hate-crime after committing a simple trespass and (2) targeted a person associated with a person of a certain sexual orientation?**

Authorities

State v. Neades, 972 N.W.2d 229 (Iowa Ct. App. 2021)

State v. Crawford, 972 N.W.2d 189 (Iowa 2022)

State v. Heuser, 661 N.W.2d 157, 165 (Iowa 2003)

State v. Thomas, 561 N.W.2d 37, 39 (Iowa 1997)

Rhoades v. State, 848 N.W.2d 22, 26 (Iowa 2014)

State v. Sanford, 814 N.W.2d 611, 615 (Iowa 2012)

State v. Keopasa euth, 645 N.W.2d 637, 639-640 (Iowa 2002)

State v. Webb, 648 N.W.2d 72, 76 (Iowa 2002)

State v. Gibbs, 239 N.W.2d 866, 867 (Iowa 1976)

State v. Kemp, 688 N.W.2d 785 (Iowa 2004)

State v. Petithory, 702 N.W.2d 854, 856-857 (Iowa 2005)

State v. Hamilton, 309 N.W.2d 471, 479 (Iowa 1981)

State v. Bower, 725 N.W.2d 435, 442 (Iowa 2006)

State v. Gonzalez, 718 N.W.2d 307, 307 (Iowa 2006)

Auen v. Alcoholic Beverages Div., 679 N.W.2d 586, 590 (Iowa 2004)

State v. Bower, 725 N.W.2d 435, 442 (Iowa 2006)

State v. Iowa District Court for Jones County, 902 N.W.2d 811, 815 (Iowa 2017)

McGill v. Fish, 790 N.W.2d 113, 11 (Iowa 2010)

State v. Schultz, 604 N.W.2d 60, 62 (Iowa 1999)

Wesley Ret. Servs. Inc. v. Hansen Lind Meyer, Inc., 594 N.W.2d 22, 25 (Iowa 1999)

A. The plain language of Iowa Code sections 716.7(2)(a)(1), 716.8(3), and 729A.(4), read as a whole, require a defendant to have two separate criminal intents for two separate criminal acts.

Iowa Code § 716.7(2)(a)(1)(2019)

Iowa Code § 716.8(3)(2019)

Iowa Code § 729A.2(4) (2019)

B. If this court believes that the plain language of the statute does not clearly provide an understanding of the legislative intent, Iowa case law and Iowa's other hate-crime statutes support Geddes' interpretation.

Carolan v. Hill, 553 N.W.2d 882, 887 (Iowa 1996)

State v. Nall, 894 N.W.2d 514, 518 (Iowa 2017)

State v. Richardson, 890 N.W.2d 609, 618 (Iowa 2017)

State v. Hennings, 791 N.W.2d 828, 835 (Iowa 2010)

State v. Hill, 878 N.W.2d 269 (Iowa 2016)

Iowa Code § 708.2C (2005)

Iowa Code § 729A.2 (2005)

State v. Tribble, 790 N.W.2d 121, 126-127 (Iowa 2010)

Iowa Code § 712.5

Iowa Code § 712.6

Iowa Code § 712.7

Iowa Code § 712.8

Iowa Code § 729A.2(2) (2019)

Iowa Code § 712.9 (2019)

Iowa Code § 716.6A (2019)

Iowa Code § 716.5

Iowa Code § 716.6

Iowa Code § 716.8(3)

State v. Redmon, 244 N.W.2d 792, 797 (Iowa 1976)

C. The State failed to establish that Geddes had the requisite specific intent to commit a hate crime.

Iowa Code §716.7(2)(a)(1)

State v. Hanes, 790 N.W.2d 545, 554 (Iowa 2010)

State v. Fountain, 786 N.W.2d 260, 263 (Iowa 2010)

Iowa Code § 716.8(3)

State v. Redmon, 244 N.W.2d 792, 797 (Iowa 1976)

State v. Adams, 554 N.W.2d 686, 692 (Iowa 1996)

D. Under either the district court’s interpretation or Geddes’ interpretation of trespass as a hate-crime, the State failed to present sufficient evidence that Geddes targeted a person associated with a person of a certain sexual orientation.

University of California, Davis, LGBTQIA Resource Center
Glossary <https://lgbtqia.ucdavis.edu/educated/glossary>
(last visited September 15, 2022)

State v. McIver, 858 N.W.2d 699, 703 (Iowa 2015)

State v. Richardson, 890 N.W.2d 609, 618 (Iowa 2017)

State v. Bower, 725 N.W.2d 435, 442 (Iowa 2006)

Iowa Code § 729A.2 (2019)

American Heritage Dictionary (5th Ed. 2022)

Black’s Law Dictionary (11th Ed. 2019)

Roberts v. U.S. Jaycees, 468 U.S. 609, 622 (1984)

Gilmore v. City of Montgomery, 417 U.S. 556, 575 (1974)

NAACP v. Alabama ex. Re. Patterson, 357 U.S. 449, 462 (1958)

NAACP v. Button, 371 U.S. 415, 431 (1963)

II. Whether Iowa Code sections 716.7(2)(a)(1), 716.8(3), and 729A.2(4) violated Geddes' right to free speech under the First Amendment to the United States constitution and Article I, section 7 of the Iowa constitution because: (1) Geddes did not use fighting words; (2) Geddes' speech did not accompany assaultive conduct; and (3) the State did not use the least restrictive means to achieve its purported compelling interest?

Authorities

State v. Allen, 304 N.W.2d 203, 206 (Iowa 1981)

State v. Fox, 491 N.W.2d 527 (Iowa 1992)

State v. Ryan, 501 N.W.2d 516, 517 (Iowa 1993)

State v. Meaner, 480 N.W.2d 872, 878 (Iowa 1992)

U.S. Const. amend. I.

U.S. Const. amend XIV

Gitlow v. People of State of New York, 268 U.S. 652 (1925)

IA. Const. Art. I, §7

State v. Milner, 571 N.W.2d 7, 12 (Iowa 1997)

Des Moines Register & Tribune Co. v. Osmundson, 248 N.W.2d 493, 498 (Iowa 1976)

City of Des Moines v. Engler, 641 N.W.2d 803, 805 (Iowa 2002)

Ashcroft v. American Civil Liberties Union, 535 U.S. 564, 573 (2002)

R.A.V. v. City of St. Paul, Minn., 505 U.S.377, 382 (1992)

Ashcroft v. American Civil Liberties Union, 542 U.S. 656, 660 (2004)

Reed v. Town of Gilbert, 576 U.S. 155, 163 (2015)

Rosenberg v. Rector and Visitors of University of Virginia, 515 U.S. 819, 829 (1995)

U.S. v. Alvarez, 567 U.S. 709, 717 (2012)

United States v. Stevens, 559 U.S. 460, 470 (2010)

United State v. Playboy Entertainment Group, Inc. 529 U.S. 803, 817 (2000)

Simon & Schuster, Inc. v. Members of N.Y. State Crime Victims Bd, 502 U.S. 105, 127 (1991)

Brandenburg v. Ohio, 395 U.S. 444 (1969)

Miller v. California, 413 U.S.15 (1973)

New York Times Co. v. Sullivan, 376 U.S. 254 (1964)

Chaplinsky, v. New Hampshire, 315 U.S. 568 (1942)

New York v. Ferber, 458 U.S. 747 (1982)

Watts v. United States, 394 U.S. 705 (1969)

Near v. State of Minnesota ex rel Olson, 283 U.S. 697 (1931)

A. Speech containing fighting words receive the same analysis under the Iowa constitution as the federal constitution.

Chaplinsky, v. New Hampshire, 315 U.S. 568 (1942)

Brandenburg v. Ohio, 395 U.S. 444 (1969)

R.A.V. v. City of St. Paul, Minn., 505 U.S.377, 382 (1992)

Lewis v. New Orleans, 415 U.S. 130, 132 (1974)

Gooding v. Wilson, 405 U.S. 518, 522 (1972)

State v. Milner, 571 N.W.2d 7,14 (Iowa 1997)

Texas v. Johnson, 491 U.S. 397, 406 (1989)

State v. Fritzie, 446 N.W.2d 781, 784 (Iowa 1989)

Wurtz v. Risley, 719 F. 2d 1438, 1442 (9th Cir. 1983)

State v. Fratzke, 446 N.W.2d 781, 784 (Iowa 1989)

a. Geddes' speech is protected because it did not contain fighting words.

State v. Kool, 212 N.W.2d 518, 521 (Iowa 1973)

B. Under the First Amendment, the Iowa Supreme Court has protected speech that is not coupled with assaultive behavior.

State v. McKnight, 511 N.W.2d 389, 390-391 (Iowa 1994)

Iowa Code § 729A.2 (2019)

Iowa Code § 729.5(3) (1992)

Wisconsin v. Mitchell (Mitchell I), 178 Wis.2d 597
(Wisconsin 1993)

Wisconsin v. Mitchell (Mitchell II) 508 U.S. 476, 480 (1993)

Cohen v. California, 403 U.S. 15 (1971)

Brandenburg v. Ohio, 395 U.S.444 (1969)

R.A.V v. City of St. Paul, 505 U.S. 377 (1992)

a. Geddes' speech is protected because it was not coupled with assaultive behavior.

C. Geddes' speech was protected under the First Amendment but the State still attempted to restrict it based on what was expressed in the notes.

D. The hate-crime statute, as-applied to Geddes, does not pass the strict scrutiny test.

United States v. Grace, 461 U.S. 171, 176 (1983)

United States v. O'Brien, 391 U.S. 367, 377 (1968)

Texas v. Johnson, 491 U.S. 397, 398 (1989)

Animal Legal Defense Fund v. Reynolds, 353 F. Supp. 3d 812, 825 (2019)

Animal Legal Defense Fund v. Reynolds, 8 F.4th 781 (2021)

United States v. Alvarez, 567 U.S. 709, 762 (2012)

United States v. Playboy Entertainment Group, Inc., 529 U.S. 803, 818 (2000)

Reed v. Town of Gilbert, 576 U.S. 155, 163-165 (2015)

Turner Broadcasting System, Inc. v. F.C.C, 512 U.S. 622, 680 (1994)

McCullen v. Coakley, 573 U.S. 464, 467 (2014)

Whitton v. City of Gladstone, 54 F. 3d 1400, 1406 (8th Cir. 1995)

Iowa Code § 708.7 (1)(a)(1)

Iowa Code § 708.1(a)(5)(b)

III. Whether Iowa Code section 716.7(2)(a)(1) makes it a public offense for a defendant to knowingly enter a property, without the express permission of the owner, and specifically intend to place an inanimate object on or in the property. This statute is unconstitutionally vague as-applied, overbroad as-applied and facially vague under the United States and Iowa constitutions?

Authorities

State v. Allen, 304 N.W.2d 203, 206 (Iowa 1981)

State v. Fox, 491 N.W.2d 527 (Iowa 1992)

State v. Wiederien, 709 N.W.2d 538, 542 (Iowa 2006)

State v. Reed, 618 N.W.2d 538, 542 (Iowa 2000)

State v. Formaro, 773 N.W.2d 834, 840 (Iowa 2009)

State v. Nail, 743 N.W.2d 535, 539 (Iowa 2007)

In re Guardianship of Hedin, 528 N.W.2d 567, 575 (Iowa 1995)

Bruns v. State, 503 N.W.2d 607, 611 (Iowa 1993)

Formaro v. Polk County, 773 N.W.2d 834, 840 (Iowa 2009)

State v. Ryan, 501 N.W.2d 516, 517 (Iowa 1993)

State v. Mehner, 480 N.W.2d 872, 878 (Iowa 1992)

A. Iowa Code section 716.7(2)(a)(1) is vague-as-applied to Geddes.

State v. Hunter, 550 N.W.2d 460, 463 (Iowa 1996)

State v. Robinson, 618 N.W.2d 306 (Iowa 2000)

State v. Musser, 721 N.W.2d 734, 745 (Iowa 2006)

a. Geddes was not put be on notice that his specific conduct was prohibited.

State v. Speck. 242 N.W.2d 287, 290 (Iowa 1976)

State v. Krieger, No. 18-0377, 2019 WL2374393 at *5 (Iowa Ct. App. June 5, 2019)

Florida v. Jardines, 569 U.S. 1, 8 (2013)

Kentucky v. King, 563 U.S. 452, 467 (2011)

b. Iowa Code section 716.7(2)(a)(1) Geddes allowed arbitrary enforcement based on whether the police approve of Geddes' note.

City of Chicago v. Morales, 527 U.S. 41, 64 (1999)

Iowa Code § 716.7(2)(a)(1) (2019)

Akron v. Rowland, 6178 N.E. 2d 138, 145 (Ohio 1993)

B. Iowa code section 716.7(2)(a)(1) is facially vague.

City of Chicago v. Morales, 527 U.S. 41, 56 (1999)

Kolender v. Lawson, 61 U.S. 352, 358 (1983)

a. Iowa Code section 716.7(2)(a)(1) does not provide fair notice that leaving a note on a front door would be a crime.

State v. Musser, 721 N.W.2d 734, 745 (Iowa 2006)

Hill v. Colorado, 530 U.S. 703, 732, 120 S. Ct. 2480 (2000)

b. Iowa Code section 716.7(2)(a)(1) is facially vague because it allows arbitrary enforcement.

C. Iowa Code section 716.7(2)(a)(1) is overbroad, as-applied to Geddes, because it sweeps too broadly and invades his federal and state constitutionally protected right to free speech.

State v. Pilcher, 242 N.W.2d 348, 354, (Iowa 1976)

Zwicker v. Koota, 389 U.S. 241, 249-250 (1967)

Grayned v. City of Rockford, 408 U.S. 104, 109 (1972)

State v. Sylvester, 516 N.W.2d 845, 850 (Iowa 1994)

Formaro v. Polk County, 773 N.W.2d 834, 840 (Iowa 2009)

State v. Duncan, 414 N.W.2d 91, 96 (Iowa 1987)

Hoffman Estates v. Flipside Hoffman Estates, 455 U.S. 489, 496 (1983)

City of Maquoketa v. Russell, 484 N.W.2d 179, 181 (Iowa 1992)

Moose Lodge #107 v. Irvis, 407 U.S. 163, 168 (1972)

Griswold v. Connecticut, 381 U.S. 479, 496 (1965)

Michael S. Degan, “Adding the First Amendment to the Fire”: Cross Burning and Hate-Crime Laws, 26 Creighton L. Rev. 1109 (1993)

Burson v. Freeman, 504 U.S. 191, 196 (1992)

United States v. Stevens, 559 U.S. 460, 468 (Iowa 2010)

United States v. Playboy Entertainment Group, 529 U.S. 803, 813 (2000)

Turner Broadcasting System, Inc. v. F.C.C. 512 U.S. 622, 680 (1994)

Iowa Code § 708.7(1)(a)(1)

Iowa Code § 708.1(a)(5)(b)

D. There is no reasonable construction of the statute that can save its constitutionality.

State v. Nail, 743 N.W.2d 535, 539–40 (Iowa 2007)

State v. Millsap, 704 N.W.2d 426, 436 (Iowa 2005)

State v. Seering, 701 N.W.2d 655, 661 (Iowa 2005)

ROUTING STATEMENT

Iowa Code sections 716.7(2)(a)(1), 716.8(3), and 729A.2(4), taken as a whole, define trespass as a hate-crime. The interplay of these code sections has not been interpreted by Iowa appellate courts and thus this case should be retained by the Iowa Supreme Court as it raises substantial issues of first impression. Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(2)(d), 6.1101(2)(c) and 6.1101(2)(a).

Specifically, the Supreme Court should decide the following questions: First, what are the requisite elements to satisfy trespass as a hate-crime, under Iowa Code sections 716.7(2)(a), 716.8(3), and 729A.2? Second, what establishes when “a person is associated with a person of a certain sexual orientation” as referenced in the hate-crime statute? Third, a person commits a trespass when they: (1) knowingly enter onto the property of another, (2) without the express permission of the owner, (3) with the intent to place an inanimate object thereon. Is this law unconstitutionally

vague and overbroad under the federal and state constitution?
Fourth, does trespass as a hate-crime violate the free speech protections guaranteed by the federal and state constitution, when it punishes verbal, non-threatening, non-assaultive behavior that expresses an unpopular viewpoint?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

NATURE OF THE CASE

Defendant-Appellant Robert Geddes appeals his conviction, sentence and judgment following a bench trial and conviction for five counts of Trespass with Intent to Commit a Hate-Crime, in violation of Iowa Code sections 716.7(2); 716.8(3) and 729A.2(4).

COURSE OF PROCEEDING

On June 30, 2021, the State filed a trial information charging Geddes with five counts of Trespass as a Hate-Crime, under Iowa Code sections 716.7, 716.8(3), and 729A.2. (06/30/21 Trial Information) (App. pp.4-6). Geddes entered a written plea of not guilty. (07/12/21 Written Plea of Not

Guilty) (App. pp.7-8). On September 28, 2021, Geddes filed a motion to dismiss all charges, on federal and state constitutional grounds. (09/28/21 Motion to Adjudicate Law Points and Dismiss) (App. pp. 11-27).

The State resisted Geddes' motion. (10/11/21 Resistance to Defendant's Motion to Dismiss) (App. pp.28-33). The district court denied Geddes' motion. (10/12/21 Rulings and Order Denying Defendant's Motion) (App. pp. 34-42). Geddes waived his right to jury trial and had a bench trial on the minutes. The defendant was found guilty as charged on April 18, 2022. (04/18/22 District Court Rule 2.17(2) Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Verdicts) (Conf. App. pp. 81-96).

On May 11, 2022, Geddes was sentenced to probation for a term not to exceed two years. (05/11/22 Order of Disposition) (App. pp. 43-46). Geddes filed a timely notice of appeal on June 10, 2022. (06/10/2022 Notice of Appeal) (App. p. 47).

FACTS

The district court found the following to be the facts of the case:

On June 18, 2021, April Burch and Daniel Ginger-Goodson, reported to police that they found a handwritten note taped to the front door of their residence. The note read: “Warning due to high levels of faggotry an investigation has been launched to control the spread of HIV/AIDS. We are sad to say the bare backed orgy has been canceled. Burn that gay flag.” The two also reported that a ‘Pride’ flag was hanging in the window of the building. (04/18/22 District Court Rule 2.17(2) Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Verdicts pp. 2, 4; 06/30/21 Minutes of Testimony) (Conf. App. pp. 82, 84, 4-80).

On June 19, 2021, Krystal Cox, Elijah Stines, Lacey Northrup, and the April Burch, the daughter of a homeowner, all residents and homeowners or renters in Boone, County, Iowa, received notes taped on their front doors. The notes all

read: “burn that gay flag”. (04/18/22 District Court Rule 2.17(2) Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Verdicts pp. 2, 3-4) (Conf. App. pp. 82-84)

Geddes was identified by his previous employer as the man seen in the video footage leaving the note, at all the homes. (04/18/22 District Court Rule 2.17(2) Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Verdicts p. 1) (Conf. App. p. 81).

During the investigation of the incidents, the police report indicated that all residences receiving a note had gay pride flags on display.¹ Each note was linked together by consistent handwriting, matching paper tear marks.

(04/18/22 District Court Rule 2.17(2) Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Verdicts p. 2) (Conf. App. p. 82).

Any additional pertinent facts will be discussed below.

¹ Within the Minutes of Testimony, the police refer to the flags at each residence as Pride Flags. (06/30/21 Minutes of Testimony p.12) (Conf. App. p. 15). The State referred to the flags as rainbow flags. (10/11/21 State’s Resistance to Def. Motion to Dismiss p. 1, L3) (App. p. 28. It was not clear of the reason the residents were displaying the flags.

ARGUMENT

- I. **Under Iowa Code sections 716.7(2)(a)(1), 716.8(3), and 729A.2(4), the State presented insufficient evidence to establish that Geddes: (1) had the specific intent to commit a hate crime after committing a simple trespass, and (2) targeted a person associated with a person of a certain sexual orientation.**

Preservation of Error: A defendant may challenge the sufficiency of the evidence following a bench trial on appeal irrespective of whether a motion for judgment of acquittal was previously made. State v. Neades, 972 N.W.2d 229 (Iowa Ct. App. 2021); State v. Crawford, 972 N.W.2d 189 (Iowa 2022).

Standard of Review: Sufficiency-of-evidence challenges are reviewed for corrections of errors of law. State v. Heuser, 661 N.W.2d 157, 165 (Iowa 2003) (citing State v. Thomas, 561 N.W.2d 37, 39 (Iowa 1997)). The Court also reviews issues of statutory-interpretation for corrections of errors at law. Rhoades v. State, 848 N.W.2d 22, 26 (Iowa 2014).

Discussion: In reviewing challenges to the sufficiency of the evidence supporting a guilty verdict, courts consider all the evidence viewed in the light most favorable to the State,

including all reasonable inferences that may be fairly drawn from the evidence. State v. Sanford, 814 N.W.2d 611, 615 (Iowa 2012)(quoting State v. Keopasaeth, 645 N.W.2d 637, 639-640 (Iowa 2002)). The State has the burden of proving “every fact necessary to constitute the crime with which the defendant is charged.” State v. Webb, 648 N.W.2d 72,76 (Iowa 2002) (citing State v. Gibbs, 239 N.W.2d 866, 867 (Iowa 1976)).

The Court should uphold the verdict only if it is supported by substantial evidence in the record as a whole. Sanford, 814 N.W.2d 611, 615 (Iowa 2012). “Evidence is substantial if it would convince a rational fact finder that the defendant is guilty beyond a reasonable doubt.” State v. Kemp, 688 N.W.2d 785 (Iowa 2004) (citing State v. Webb, 648 N.W.2d 72, 75 (Iowa 2002)). However, consideration must be given to all of the evidence, not just evidence supporting the verdict. State v. Petithory, 702 N.W.2d 854, 856-857 (Iowa 2005). “The evidence must raise a fair inference of guilt and

do more than create speculation, suspicion, or conjecture.”

Webb, 648 N.W.2d 72, 76 (Iowa 2002) (citing State v.

Hamilton, 309 N.W.2d 471, 479 (Iowa 1981)).

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