IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA
Supreme Court No. 22-1009

STATE OF IOWA,
Plaintiff-Appellee,

vs.

ROBERT CLARK GEDDES,
Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
IN AND FOR BOONE COUNTY
DISTRICT ASSOCIATE JUDGE STEPHEN A. OWEN

APPELLEE'S BRIEF

BRENNA BIRD
Attorney General of Iowa

AARON ROGERS
Assistant Attorney General
Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor
Des Moines, Iowa 50319
(515) 281-5976
aaron.rogers@ag.iowa.gov

MATTHEW SPEERS
Boone County Attorney

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

FINAL

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

ARGUMENT

I. **It is a hate crime to trespass because of the property possessor’s association with people of a certain sexual orientation, and Geddes did so five times.**

Preservation of Error

Geddes does not contend that he preserved a challenge to the legal argument that trespass as a hate crime requires a predicate hate crime. Appellant’s Br. pp. 32–33. The same goes for his proposed interpretation of “association.” *Id.* Attempting to sidestep these shortcomings, he portrays his nuanced legal challenges to the necessary elements as a routine challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence, citing *State v. Crawford*, 972 N.W.2d 189 (Iowa 2022). Straightforward challenges to sufficiency are not required to be preserved below, it is true. *Id.* But *Crawford* does not say anything about a multifaceted legal challenge to the elements making up a crime under three code provisions working in concert. Geddes’s legal challenge is unpreserved.

Geddes does not challenge the validity of harassment in violation of Iowa Code section 708.7(4) as a predicate crime for hate-crime trespass, so he has waived that argument as well. Appellant’s Br. pp. 32–105.

Standard of Review

Challenges to the elements of a crime require statutory interpretation, which is reviewed for errors of law. *State v. Wells*, 629 N.W.2d 346, 351 (Iowa 2001). Sufficiency of the evidence is also reviewed for errors at law. *State v. Kelso-Christy*, 911 N.W.2d 663, 666 (Iowa 2018)).

Merits

Defendant Robert Geddes committed trespass in violation of Iowa Code section 716.7(2)(a)(1) five times. He trespassed each time that he, without permission, entered onto property with the intent to harass the possessor by placing a note thereon. Iowa Code § 716.7(2)(a)(1)). Each trespass was a hate crime because Geddes did so because of the property possessor's sexual orientation or their association with people of a certain sexual orientation. Iowa Code §§ 716.8(3) & 729.2(4).

The statutes under which Geddes was convicted of hate-crime trespass do not require that he intended to commit a separate hate crime. Iowa Code §§ 716.7(2)(a)(1), 716.8(3), & 729A.2(4). So, the court can reject Geddes's elements argument on the merits as well as for lack of preservation. Also, there was sufficient evidence of

Geddes’s knowing entry on the properties, without permission, with the intent to commit harassment or place the notes there, because of the property owners’ or possessors’ sexual orientation or association with persons of certain sexual orientations. The court should thus reject Geddes’s sufficiency arguments.

A. Hate-crime trespass does not require an intent to commit a separate hate crime.

Geddes was properly charged with, and convicted of, trespass as a hate crime. The trespass statute here prohibits a person without express permission from entering onto property of another with the intent to commit a public offense or to place anything thereon:

“Trespass” shall mean . . . [e]ntering upon . . . property without the express permission of the owner, lessee, or person in lawful possession with the intent to commit a public offense, to . . . place thereon or therein anything . . . inanimate . . . , or to hunt

Iowa Code § 716.7(2)(a)(1)). The penalty provision, section 716.8(3), makes a trespass violation a hate crime when the trespasser does so “knowingly . . . with the intent to commit a hate-crime, as defined in

section 729A.2”² Iowa Code § 716.8(3) (2019). The referenced provision, section 729A.2(4), tells us:

“Hate crime” means one of the following public offenses when committed against . . . a person’s property because of the person’s . . . sexual orientation . . . or the person’s association with a person of a certain . . . sexual orientation

Trespass in violation of individual rights under section 716.8, subsections 3 and 4.

Iowa Code § 729A.2(4). Besides trespass, the offenses listed in 729A.2 are assault, arson, and criminal mischief. *Id.*

The proper reading of the combination of statutes here is that Geddes committed a hate crime if he 1) knowingly trespassed; and 2) he did so because of a person’s sexual orientation or association with a person of a certain sexual orientation. Yet, Geddes reads the language in the penalty provision, section 716.8(3), to require an intent to commit a second hate crime. The penalty provision, however, points to the hate-crime definition, section 729A.2, to require its “because of” provision, not its list of offenses. We know this because the penalty provision, section 716.8(3), is already on that

² This is the language Geddes uses to argue that trespass is not a hate crime unless the violator does so intending to commit a separate hate crime not tied to the trespass. Appellant’s Br. pp. 32–46.

list. Iowa Code § 729A.2(4). There is no requirement to commit a second hate crime.

The first step in interpreting a statute is to determine whether its language is ambiguous. *State v. Coleman*, 907 N.W.2d 124, 135 (Iowa 2018). If it is not ambiguous, the Court applies the plain language. *State v. Ross*, 941 N.W.2d 341, 346 (Iowa 2020). If, based on the statute's context, reasonable minds could differ about its meaning, only then does the analysis turn to canons of statutory construction. *State v. Iowa Dist. Ct.*, 889 N.W.2d 467, 471 (Iowa 2017). The primary objective is to honor the intent of the legislature. *State v. Harrison*, 846 N.W.2d 362, 367 (Iowa 2014).

If a statute is ambiguous, the court, in determining the intention of the legislature, may consider among other matters:

1. The object sought to be attained.
2. The circumstances under which the statute was enacted.
3. The legislative history.
4. The common law or former statutory provisions, including laws upon the same or similar subjects.
5. The consequences of a particular construction.

6. The administrative construction of the statute.

7. The preamble or statement of policy.

Iowa Code § 4.6. The language of the penalty provision—“with the intent to commit a hate crime”—could be interpreted two ways, so it is ambiguous. We thus turn to canons.

The penalty provision and hate-crime definition sections point to one another, and so, under the *in pari materia* canon, they are closely related and should be read as one provision. Iowa Code §§ 716.8(3) & 729A.2(4). Two principles underlie this canon: “(1) that the body of the law should make sense, and (2) that it is the responsibility of the courts, within the permissible meanings of the text, to make it so.” Antonin S. Scalia & Brian A. Garner, *Reading Law: Interpretation of Legal Texts* 252 (2012). *State v. Peters* tells us that even without cross references, the statutes at issue there were sufficiently closely related. 525 N.W.2d 854, 857 (Iowa 1994) (citing 82 C.J.S. *Statutes* § 366, at 801–08 (1953)). *Peters* thus began its analysis with the premise that statutes with cross references should be read as one. That is where interpretation here should begin as well—it just makes sense to consider the penalty provision in section 716.8(3) and hate-crime definition in section 729A.2 as one.

The penalty provision adds the “with the intent to commit a hate crime,” language here, and it points to section 729A.2 for its definition of hate crime. Iowa Code § 716.8(3). Considering those two provisions as one law, the crux here is the meaning of the “with the intent to commit a hate crime,” language in the section 716.8(3) penalty provision. Geddes urges that it means he did not commit a hate crime unless he trespassed while intending to commit an additional section 729A.2 listed offense because of the property possessor’s protected status—assault, arson, property damage, or an additional trespass. Reading the laws together dispels this notion—they require only that he trespassed because of the property possessor’s protected status.

The hate-crime definition requires an offense to be committed for a prohibited reason but points to the section 716.8(3) penalty provision here as one of the offenses. Iowa Code § 729A.2. Section 716.8(3) does not include the section 792A.2 definition provision’s list of offenses because section 716.8(3) is one of its offenses. It makes little sense for section 716.8(3)’s reference to section 792A.2 to incorporate the list it is already on. So, sensibly, it incorporates only

the remainder—that trespass is a hate crime when committed because of a property possessor’s protected status.

Geddes proposes that the strictest possible reading is required. Yet, it is not a canon but a false notion that words of a statute should be strictly construed. Scalia & Garner, *Reading Law* at 355. Reaching a fair meaning, not the narrowest meaning, is the goal of interpretation. *Id.* As shown in the following paragraphs, the bizarre effects of Geddes’s interpretation disqualify it as the combined statutes’ fair meaning. Iowa Code § 4.6(5).

If the section 716.8(3) penalty provision added a requirement that a separate hate crime was intended, that separate hate crime could never be trespass despite trespass’s inclusion in the definition section’s list of covered offenses. This is because the predicate hate-crime trespass would itself need a separate hate-crime predicate—a third hate crime. Otherwise, the predicate hate-crime trespass would not have its predicate hate-crime element required under Geddes’s section 716.8(3) reading. Each hate-crime trespass predicate would be in search of its own predicate hate crime, which could never be hate-crime trespass because the State could only ever get half the way there in its proof. So, Geddes’s reading renders superfluous

subsection (4) of section 729A.2, which points to sections 716.8(3) and (4) trespass penalty provisions in its list of hate crimes. Iowa Code § 729A.2(4). In Geddes’s interpretation, the section 716.8(3) penalty provision does all the work. So, section 729A.2(4) would be unnecessary.

Geddes’s proposed reading runs afoul of three statutory-interpretation canons. As shown, Geddes’s reading effectively invalidates Iowa Code section 729A.2(4). So, the presumption-of-validity canon prefers the State’s interpretation, which validates that subsection. Scalia & Garner, *Reading Law* at 66. A provision of a statute rendered futile also violates the surplusage canon—subsection (4) of section 729A.2 would be of no consequence if section 716.8(3) requires proof of a separate hate crime. *Id.* at 174. Finally, Geddes’s infinite-loop reading is absurd, violating the canon to avoid absurd results. *Id.* at 234 (2012). The results of Geddes’s reading favor the State’s interpretation. Iowa Code § 4.6(5). After these interpretive canons are applied, there remains no reasonable doubt as to the meaning of the related provisions, so the rule of lenity has no application here. Scalia & Garner, *Reading Law* at 297. The tools of interpretation require the State’s reading.

Reading the two closely related provisions together avoids invalidating one subsection of the hate-crime definition. The *in pari materia* interpretation largely tracks Geddes’s approach but does not create an infinite loop or render parts of the law surplusage. Under this better reading, Geddes need not have intended to commit a second hate crime to commit the first.

B. “Association” is not ambiguous, and flying a flag shows an association with a group of people.

The term “association” used in section 729A.2 is unambiguous. “Association” has a well-known meaning derived from free-speech principles. Flying a pride flag undoubtedly displays an association with people of a certain sexual orientation. The evidence here thus showed that Geddes committed his trespass because of the victims’ association with those of certain sexual orientations.

The because-of-an-association element requires that Geddes trespassed because of any victim’s protected association. Importantly, the term “because of” addresses what was in Geddes’s mind, not that there was, in fact, such an association. The State did not have to provide evidence that any victim associated with a person of a certain sexual orientation, only that Geddes thought so. The court should not

credit Geddes's arguments that association is an ambiguous term or that evidence of association was insufficient.

Free-speech principles support Geddes's conviction, they don't prohibit it. "Association" is a well-understood free-speech term and not ambiguous. The district court said it well: "[W]e have long understood as implicit in the right to engage in activities protected by the First Amendment a corresponding right to associate with others in pursuit of a wide variety of political, social, economic, educational, religious, and cultural ends." Rule 2.17(2) Order p. 8 (quoting *Roberts v. U.S. Jaycees*, 468 U.S. 609, 622 (1984)); Conf. App. 88.

Geddes says that people could argue about the meaning of "association." Reductively, he concludes that this renders the statute ambiguous. People could of course argue about anything; the ability to make a bad argument doesn't make every word used everywhere ambiguous. The argument on each side must be reasonable. And "people could argue" is not a reasonable argument. Yet, that is all that Geddes offers here. There is no reason to resort to canons of statutory interpretation because we know what "association" means in a free-speech context.

C. The evidence of Geddes’s five hate-crime trespasses is sufficient.

Properly construed as not requiring intent to commit a separate hate crime, and fairly reading “association,” Geddes violated the trespass provision, section 716.7(2)(a)(1), as enhanced by the interplay of the hate-crime penalty and definition provisions—sections 716.8 and 729A.2. The elements of a hate-crime trespass are:

- (1) Geddes knowingly entered upon property of another.
- (2) He did not have the express permission of the person in possession.
- (3) When Geddes entered, he had the specific intent to commit the crime of harassment or to place any object on or in the property.
- (4) Geddes committed the offense against a person’s property because of the person’s sexual orientation or association with a person of a certain sexual orientation.

Iowa State Bar Association, Model Jury Instructions 1610.1 & 2900.1 (June 2000); Iowa Code §§ 716.7(2)(a)(1), 716.8(3), & 729A.2(4).

At trial, the standard of proof begins as robust—the State must prove every element of a crime beyond a reasonable doubt. *In re Winship*, 397 U.S. 358, 364 (1970). Failure violates a defendant’s due process rights under the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States

Constitution. *Id.* After trial, the burden flips to the defendant and the appellate court gives strong deference to the factfinder. *Coleman v. Johnson*, 566 U.S. 650, 656–57 (2012) (per curiam).

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